RECEIVED

Nov 04 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Aiken County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

LONNIE MILLER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000351

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DAVID ALEXANDER
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in finding plea counsel provided effective representation where she failed to have her client evaluated for sleep apnea which would have been a mitigating factor at his plea?

STATEMENT

In 2017, Petitioner Lonnie Miller was indicted in Aiken County for two counts of failing to stop a motor vehicle at an accident scene involving death, one count of failure to stop at a scene with a personal injury, and two counts of reckless homicide. App. 186-200. On February 16, 2018, petitioner pled guilty before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. App. 1. J. Strom Thurmond, Jr. represented the State. App. 1. Maureen O. Floyd represented petitioner. App. 1. Judge Early accepted the plea and sentenced petitioner to the maximum sentence for leaving the scene, twenty five years' imprisonment. App. 70. Judge Early sentenced petitioner to ten years' imprisonment on the other counts, with all sentences running concurrent. App. 70. Petitioner did not appeal.

On December 13, 2017, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 72. He amended the application on January 2, 2020. App. 89. On July 16, 2024, the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons held a hearing. App. 92. Nancy Fennell represented petitioner and Cruise Mitchell represented the State. App. 92. Judge Gibbons denied PCR relief from the bench. App. 166. On January 23, 2025, the court entered a written Order of Dismissal. App. 175. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding plea counsel provided effective representation where she failed to have her client evaluated for sleep apnea which would have been a mitigating factor at his plea.

This prosecution arose from a tragic automobile accident in which two highway construction workers were killed by petitioner's car. Plea counsel's statements at the plea hearing contradicted the strategic reason she claimed at the PCR hearing for not having petitioner evaluated for sleep apnea. At the PCR hearing, she told the court that if petitioner had medical records establishing he had sleep apnea, or had a sleep study done, it "[a]bsolutely" would not have helped petitioner at the plea hearing. App. 156-58. But six years earlier at the plea hearing, she told the judge that petitioner fell asleep and that he had sleep apnea. App. 26. Despite this clear contradiction, the PCR court credited plea counsel with a valid strategic reason for not having a sleep study done and denied relief. App. 181-82.

The Guilty Plea

The accident happened at 8:32 AM. App. 14. Petitioner's car was travelling at 59 mph in a 45 mph zone. App. 14. His car left the road and hit three Department of Transportation workers, killing two of them. App. 14. Petitioner's car then veered back onto the road without slowing down to miss the DOT truck. App. 14. Petitioner fled the scene. App. 14-15.

The police quickly found petitioner's car, but could not locate petitioner. App. 15-16. The solicitor told Judge Early that petitioner "turned himself in at approximately 4:30 PM . . . some 8 hours after the incident and well beyond the protocols for any sort of DUI investigation. App. 16. He then told the court that petitioner told the police he either blacked out or had sleep apnea. App. 16.

The solicitor then gave Judge Early petitioner's criminal history which included an abysmal driving record and multiple drug convictions. App. 18-21. Judge Early was particularly interested in the fact that petitioner was on probation for possession of Xanax at the time of the accident. App. 20-21. The solicitor argued that petitioner's statements about either blacking out or falling asleep were inconsistent with "paying for breakfast with exact change some 20 minutes beforehand." App. 21. He continued by stating that petitioner's waiting eight hours to turn himself in was far more consistent with someone trying to avoid a drug test than someone with sleep apnea. App. 21-22. Judge Early asked the solicitor, "Any medical records to verify he has sleep apnea?" App. 22. The solicitor replied, "Not that we've been provided." App. 22.

Plea counsel began her presentation by telling the judge that petitioner was remorseful and came to her office on the day of the accident. App. 25-26. Once she learned what happened, plea counsel arranged with the solicitor for petitioner to turn himself in. App. 26. She drove him to the sheriff's office herself. App. 26.

Plea counsel then told the judge that where the accident happened was "a clear shot. And what happened is he fell asleep." App. 26. Judge Early interrupted and asked why petitioner fell asleep at 8:00 in the morning. App. 26. Plea counsel replied, "He suffers from sleep apnea and also—" App. 26.

Judge Early asked for medical records to support her claim that petitioner had sleep apnea. App. 26. Plea counsel responded, "No, Your Honor. He had applied for social security and did not have medical insurance, but he has been advised that the symptoms that he had was sleep apnea. . . ." App. 26. Plea counsel explained petitioner told the police about his sleep apnea and he "was trying to figure out what happened" and that he remembered hitting something, but did not realize that he hit human beings until he heard ambulances. App. 26-27.

Judge Early replied, “Ms. Floyd, I find that almost impossible to believe.” App. 27. The judge further questioned how petitioner could have been sufficiently awake to flee the scene and hide evidence if he was so drowsy from sleep apnea. App. 27-28. The court said, “the main reason they don’t turn themselves in is so they don’t have to take a blood test or a breathalyzer or a toxicology test.” App. 29-30. Judge Early continued:

Because of the consequences of hitting someone under the influence is, as you know and I know substantially greater than just a reckless homicide case. And to me, that’s the only reason, not the only reason, **but the most logical reason that you would flee, was to avoid having to be tested.**

App. 30 (emphasis added). As the judge continued to press plea counsel on possible drug use, she again fell back on petitioner possibly having sleep apnea. App. 33. When Judge Early gave petitioner the maximum sentence for fleeing the scene, he stated, “I believe you’re truly sorry. I believe you’re remorseful. But society demands that I send a message that if you’re going to drive in a reckless manner and fail to stop and render aid, **fail to stop so appropriate tests can be done, a message has to be sent.**” App. 70 (emphasis added).

The PCR Hearing

By the time of petitioner’s PCR hearing, he had been diagnosed with “severe obstructive sleep apnea” and entered those medical records into evidence. App. 169. Petitioner testified that at the time of the accident, he would wake up constantly, sometimes “gagging and choking for air.” App. 117. He told plea counsel that he believed he had sleep apnea and he needed to have a sleep study done. App. 117. She led petitioner to believe that the sleep study would happen, but it did not. App. 117-19. Petitioner’s mother also testified at the PCR hearing about petitioner’s troubles staying awake around the house, in the bathroom, and in cars around the time of the accident. App. 138-140.

Plea counsel testified she was convinced that petitioner “must have fallen asleep” before the accident. App. 147. She and her husband mapped petitioner’s route to exclude other causes such as obstructed views and the sun being in petitioner’s eyes. App. 144-45. They excluded these causes. App. 144-45.

Plea counsel admitted petitioner told her he thought he had sleep apnea. App. 148. She added, “but he had no records to back it up.” App. 148. She opined at the PCR hearing that a sleep apnea diagnosis would not “have helped him at all in this case because he would have known not to drive with his record.” App. 148-49.

Petitioner’s counsel asked whether, especially given Judge Early’s comments during sentencing, evidence of sleep apnea would have been a mitigating factor. App. 156. Contradicting what she told Judge Early during the guilty plea, she answered:

Absolutely not, because there were no medical records. They were not medical records that existed prior to this, and I was not aware of him falling asleep while driving or falling asleep on the toilet or falling asleep in the bathtub. None of that was explained to me by him or his mother. Okay? So I had no way of knowing that that was an issue. . . . If it were an issue and he had relayed that to the doctor doing the testing, that he had fallen asleep driving before, that would have been like a knife in our heart that he was reckless by driving, knowing that he falls asleep while driving. Okay?

And so praise the Lord that we didn’t have a sleep test because he—if he had told that to the doctor, that would have been—that would have taken away, I think, some of his remorse and culpability. **It would have upped his culpability** because he knew he shouldn’t have been driving. . . .

App. 156-57 (emphasis added). Judge Gibbons accepted plea counsel’s rationale that a diagnosis of sleep apnea would not have helped petitioner’s case because the cause of the accident was irrelevant to petitioner fleeing the scene. App. 180-82.

Discussion

It was clear from the colloquy at the plea hearing that Judge Early suspected that the story about sleep apnea was only an excuse to hide intoxication. Plea counsel recognized this at the time of the hearing and told Judge Early petitioner had sleep apnea, but could not back up the claim without medical records or without having had a sleep study performed. The PCR court erred in accepting plea counsel's complete 180 degree turn into claiming that sleep apnea—the mitigation she urged at the plea hearing—would have hurt petitioner. Plea counsel speciously claimed at the PCR hearing that having sleep apnea would have “upped his culpability” more than being intoxicated. While both plea counsel and the PCR court were correct that a sleep apnea diagnosis would not have been a defense to fleeing the scene, it would have been powerful mitigating evidence contradicting Judge Early's strong suspicion that petitioner fell asleep because he was intoxicated.

“A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). To establish a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). “A criminal defense attorney has the duty to conduct a reasonable investigation to discover all reasonably available mitigation evidence and all reasonably available evidence tending to rebut any aggravating

evidence introduced by the State.” McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 46, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008) (emphasis added).

Judge Early repeatedly asked for medical records to establish sleep apnea. At the PCR hearing, plea counsel did not seem to understand that it was her duty to conduct a mitigation investigation and obtain the records or a sleep study as she blamed petitioner for not having the diagnosis or the records. Failing to conduct a proper mitigation investigation is deficient performance.

As for prejudice, petitioner’s diagnosis of “severe obstructive sleep apnea” after he was incarcerated satisfies part of this prong. App. 169. The other part of the prejudice analysis is shown by the plea judge’s conviction that intoxication rather than sleep apnea was the cause of the accident. Petitioner’s delay in turning himself in gave credence to this belief and plea counsel knew at the time it was important to defeat this strong suspicion. She knew it was important because she tried to use sleep apnea as a mitigating factor. Plea counsel just failed to do the necessary work to provide the plea judge with the documentation to prove it.

In a guilty plea setting, “the prejudice analysis is limited to the outcome of the plea process—whether but for counsel’s deficiency, the defendant would have declined to plead and instead proceeded to trial.” Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 263, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018). Petitioner stated that he was prepared to move forward in PCR despite the only relief the court could grant was a new trial. App. 109-10. Had plea counsel gotten petitioner tested for sleep apnea, it would have affected his decision to plead guilty. App. 121. Where petitioner had no defense to leaving the scene, the only hope he had was to plead guilty and present mitigating evidence that would convince the judge to give him a sentence less than the maximum. Plea

counsel's deficient performance deprived petitioner of this chance. This Court should grant certiorari and reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant certiorari and reverse petitioner's convictions.



David Alexander
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER