STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Mar 23 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000351

LONNIE MILLER,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TRAVIS CRUISE MITCHELL
S.C. Bar No. 105682
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for two counts of reckless homicide with death resulting (2017-GS-02-1234, -01235), two counts of failure to stop a motor vehicle at the scene causing death (2017-GS-02-737, -0739), and failure to stop a motor vehicle at the scene of an accident with personal injury (2017-GS-02-0741), all stemming from a March 13, 2017, motor vehicle accident caused by Petitioner that resulted in the death of two victims and the injury of a third victim. The case was prosecuted by Second Circuit Solicitor Strom Thurmond. Petitioner was represented by Maureen O. Floyd, Esquire.

On February 16, 2018, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, and pleaded guilty as indicted. Judge Early accepted Petitioner's guilty pleas and sentenced him to concurrent sentences of twenty-five years imprisonment for each count of failure to stop a motor vehicle at the scene causing death, ten years imprisonment for each count of reckless homicide with death resulting, and one year imprisonment for failure to stop a motor vehicle at the scene of an accident with personal injury (2017-GS-02-0741). Petitioner did not pursue a direct appeal.

On December 13, 2018, Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application. On July 16, 2024, a hearing into the matter was convened before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons at the Aiken County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and represented by Nancy C. Fennell, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General T. Cruise Mitchell represented the State. At the evidentiary hearing, testimony was taken from Petitioner, Sheila Miller (Applicant's mother), and Maureen O. Floyd, Esquire ("Counsel").

On January 23, 2025, Judge Gibbons issued an order of dismissal denying and dismissing Petitioner's allegations with prejudice. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. *Id.*; *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The PCR court properly found plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate Petitioner's sleep apnea diagnosis as it would offer no mitigation value for the offense of hit and run.**

Summary of Petitioner's Crimes and Subsequent Entry of Guilty Plea

On March 13, 2017, Department of Transportation workers were assigned to check a clogged drain on the side of Highway 421. At 8:32 am, Applicant was traveling 59 miles per hour in a 45 mile an hour zone, heading north on Highway 421, when he left the roadway and struck three of the workers. Immediately following the collision, Applicant veered back into the road and left the scene. Two of the workers were pronounced dead at the scene and another was hospitalized with severe injuries. A witness notified law enforcement that he saw a brown Pontiac with heavy damage pull into a nearby trailer park. Law enforcement observed a vehicle matching the description with a blanket placed over it to conceal the damage. Applicant turned himself in several hours after the incident. (Gp. Tr. pp. 13–18).

During the ensuing guilty plea hearing, Petitioner confirmed he was pleading guilty to two counts of hit and run resulting in death, one count of hit and run resulting in severe bodily injury, and two counts of reckless homicide and personally acknowledged the potential sentences for each offense. (App. pp. 6–8). Petitioner further confirmed he was waiving his right to a jury trial, was promised nothing in exchange for his plea, and was completely satisfied with Counsel. (App. pp. 6–10). Following the colloquy, the plea court found Petitioner's guilty plea to be freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made. (App. p. 12). Thereafter, the Solicitor recited the facts of the crime. (App. pp. 13–18). The Solicitor then recounted Petitioner's abysmal driving record as follows:

The Court: No, sir, you go this whole driving record?

Mr. Thurmond: Yes, sir.

The Court: Let me have it, please. Not in my hand, do it on the record.

Mr. Thurmond: Yes, sir, I'll include everything. 2004, fleeing from police, hit and run, reckless driving, failure to maintain lane, violation of a limited permit. 2005 -
-

The Court: Hold on a second. Fleeing, hit and run, what else?

Mr. Thurmond: Reckless driving, failure to maintain lane and violation of a limited permit; 2005, driving while license revoked for serious violations under the age of 21; and a second count for that in 2005; and fleeing from police again in 2005; 2006, speeding in a construction zone with workers present; 2006, running a red light, driving without a license, no insurance; 2007 - -

The Court: One second, please. Go back to '06. Speeding in a construction zone?

Mr. Thurmond: With workers present is what the Georgia ticket says. And a separate incident in 2006, running a red light, driving without a license, no insurance; 2007, fleeing from police, violation of an instructional permit. And since you wanted all of them, I'll give you all of them -

The Court: Hold on a second. 2007, fleeing again from - -

Mr. Thurmond: Yes, sir.

The Court: - - police.

Mr. Thurmond: And violation of instructional permit; 2009, illegal window tint; 2009 driving with a shattered windshield; 2011 loud music; 2012, driving without a license, no brake lights; 2012, driving with an expired tag, failure to maintain lane; 2013, improper passing resulting in an accident; 2014 passing in a no-passing lane.

The Court: Hold on a second. '13, improper passing with accident.

Mr. Thurmond: Yes, sir. 2014, passing in a no passing lane; 2015, driving with a broken headlight; 2016 driving without headlights.

(App. pp. 18-20).

Following the Solicitor's recitation of the facts, Counsel spoke on Petitioner's behalf, indicating that Petitioner has expressed tremendous remorse for the incident and that Petitioner fell asleep at

the wheel due to sleep apnea. (App. pp. 25–26). Upon inquiry by the court, Counsel stated that there are no medical records of Petitioner’s sleep apnea. (App. p. 26). Counsel further indicated she did not believe Petitioner to be under the influence at the time of the collision. (App. p. 31). Petitioner then addressed the court, expressed remorse, apologized to the victims, and accepted responsibility for the crimes. (App. pp. 36–38). Members of Petitioner’s family, including his sister and mother, addressed the court in which they both asserted that Petitioner loves his kids and family, was truly remorseful for his actions, and requested mercy in sentencing. (App. pp. 39–43). Multiple victims then addressed the court explaining how Petitioner’s crimes have impacted their lives. (App. pp. 44–67). After listening to these remarks, the plea judge sentenced Petitioner to concurrent sentences of twenty-five years imprisonment for each count of failure to stop a motor vehicle at the scene causing death, ten years imprisonment for each count of reckless homicide with death resulting, and one year imprisonment for failure to stop a motor vehicle at the scene of an accident with personal injury. (App. pp. 67–70).

Discussion

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in finding plea counsel was not ineffective for failing to have Petitioner evaluated for sleep apnea which could have been a mitigating factor at his plea. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to “assistance by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where, as in this case, a PCR Petitioner alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland*

v. *Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*: first, the Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 670. The Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application by a preponderance of the evidence. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; Rule 71.1(e), SCRC.P.

In this case, the plea judge imposed a sentence falling squarely within the permissible sentencing range—and forty-six years less than the maximum term of imprisonment allowable—for Petitioner's offenses. Despite this sentence, Petitioner contends that Counsel was deficient in

her mitigation investigation. Specifically, Petitioner alleges Counsel should have had Petitioner evaluated for a sleep apnea diagnosis.

The PCR court did not err in finding Counsel was not deficient for failing to have Petitioner evaluated for a sleep apnea diagnosis. First, any further investigation into Applicant's sleep apnea would not have been relevant to his defense in a hit and run case, and may, in fact, have been harmful to his defense. According to S.C. Code § 56-5-1210(A):

The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to or the death of a person immediately shall stop the vehicle at the scene of the accident or as close to it as possible. He then shall return to and in every event shall remain at the scene of the accident until he has fulfilled the requirements of Section 56-5-1230. However, he may temporarily leave the scene to report the accident to the proper authorities. The stop must be made without obstructing traffic more than is necessary.

The relevant inquiries for a hit and run are "whether defendant was aware he was involved in incident involving vehicle and whether he complied with statute which required him to remain at scene of incident and statute which required him to provide certain personal information." *State v. Westmoreland*, 421 S.C. 410, 807 S.E.2d 701 (Ct. App. 2017). At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified intentionality of the collision was an irrelevant factor for hit and run and a sleep apnea diagnosis would provide no defense to hit and run. (App. p. 151; p. 159). Counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to investigate a sleep apnea diagnosis which would have offered no defense to the crime nor any value in mitigation. *See Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) ("A criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty is limited to reasonable investigation"). Thus, the PCR court did not err by finding Counsel was not deficient.

As to the prejudice prong, Petitioner has failed to prove a reasonable probability the plea court would have imposed a lesser sentence had Counsel presented medical records of Petitioner's purported sleep apnea diagnosis. Petitioner admitted he had no medical diagnosis of sleep apnea

at the time of the plea. (App. p. 134). Although Petitioner was diagnosed years following the incident, it is speculative as to whether he had that diagnosis at the time of the collision. Additionally, Counsel testified Petitioner never requested an evaluation and never informed her of his prior passing out episodes to which he later testified at the PCR hearing. (App. p. 149). While Counsel was aware Petitioner believed he had sleep apnea prior to the plea, she testified she was not aware of any instances of him falling asleep while driving, on the toilet, or in the bathtub, and neither Petitioner nor his mother relayed such information to her. (App. p. 156). As the PCR court found, Counsel reasonably explained that had Petitioner been evaluated and disclosed these prior episodes to a doctor “it would have upped his credibility because he knew he shouldn’t be driving.” (App. p. 157). Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show that a medical evaluation for sleep apnea would have provided any meaningful mitigation.

Furthermore, the plea judge twice articulated his reasons for the sentence at Petitioner’s guilty plea. Once right before Petitioner addressed the plea court during mitigation:

But, before he does, you understand if by accepting responsibility, he’s still, because of his reckless driving, caused the horrible death of those two men and injuries to a third person: the families have suffered *and he didn’t stay at the scene. He consciously covered the car up, consciously left the scene, consciously left the car where it was.*

So, I’ve got to up all that on the scales when I weight out what is an appropriate sentence: obviously tempered by some mercy because he accepted responsibility, but that’s why we have laws that govern the operation of vehicles on the highway ...

And gracious me, *he has just snubbed his nose to our laws since - - for 14 years.*

(App. p. 36) (emphasis added).

And again right before handing down the sentence:

This is a tragic situation where two fine men with families and grandchildren and friends lives were snuffed out in the blink of an eye and the third worker left injured and devastated and will never get over it.

So trying to decide what punishment is appropriate in a situation like this is always a difficult task. In this case, the law allows me to give up to 71 years. That is, I don't think, appropriate under these circumstances. You asked for mercy. I will temper this sentence with mercy. You ask for forgiveness. Obviously, I can't impose a sentence that forgives you. I think these family members, as one wife expressed, if they haven't already forgiven, they will probably in this future forgive you to some degree.

But my job mandates that I balance out the violation of the law and what it caused and it's a very difficult job, Son, it's very difficult.

I have to look at similar cases in the past. Quite frankly, I've never had one this severe with these type of situations. I just had on about maybe 2 months ago, 3 months ago, time flies, where a young man swerved across the center line and no reason and ran over a person and killed them and continued on. That was one death. That man received a sentence of 15 years. We have two deaths here. We have one man injured. And then notwithstanding what some people have said, I have to look and take into consideration that you have been a habitual violator of the driving laws all the way back to 2004.

In addition, you were on probation for violating the substance laws. So balancing all of that out, the sentence that I'm going to give you is what you'll think is way too much, the families will think it's way too little.

I've been doing this a long time. 14 years on the bench, 30 years practicing law, and trying to decide and judge what an appropriate sentence is, is always a - - not always, in these kinds of cases, it's always a difficult situation.

I believe you're truly sorry. I believe you're remorseful. But society demands that I send a message that if you're going to drive in a reckless manner and fail to stop and render aid, fail to stop so appropriate tests can be done.

(App. pp. 68-70).

Clearly, the plea court's stated reasons for the sentence were twofold: 1) the tragic nature of the offenses, and 2) Petitioner's abysmal driving record. (App. pp. 18-21). The presentation of medical records reflecting a sleep apnea diagnosis would not have mitigated either factor. Thus, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue raised.